

# The Right to Healthy Indoor Air

Report on a WHO Meeting

Bilthoven, The Netherlands 15–17 May 2000

European HEALTH21 targets 10, 13 2000

#### **EUROPEAN HEALTH21 TARGET 10**

### A HEALTHY AND SAFE PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT

By the year 2015, people in the Region should live in a safer physical environment, with exposure to contaminants hazardous to health at levels not exceeding internationally agreed standards

(Adopted by the WHO Regional Committee for Europe at its forty-eighth session, Copenhagen, September 1998)

# **EUROPEAN HEALTH21 TARGET 13**

#### **SETTINGS FOR HEALTH**

By the year 2015, people in the Region should have greater opportunities to live in healthy physical and social environments at home, at school, at the workplace and in the local community

(Adopted by the WHO Regional Committee for Europe at its forty-eighth session, Copenhagen, September 1998)

#### **ABSTRACT**

Indoor air quality is an important determinant of health and wellbeing. However, the control of indoor air quality is often inadequate, one reason being the poor articulation, appreciation and understanding of basic principles underlying policies and action related to indoor air quality. As a result, the general public is familiar neither with those principles nor with their associated rights. A WHO Working Group was convened to agree on a set of statements on "The right to healthy indoor air", derived from fundamental principles in the fields of human rights, biomedical ethics and ecological sustainability. This document presents the conclusions of the Working Group, informs individuals and groups responsible for healthy indoor air about their rights and obligations, and individuals by bringing those rights to their attention.

## Keywords

AIR POLLUTION, INDOOR ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY HOUSING HUMAN RIGHTS ETHICS EUROPE

#### © World Health Organization - 2000

All rights in this document are reserved by the WHO Regional Office for Europe. The document may nevertheless be freely reviewed, abstracted, reproduced or translated into any other language (but not for sale or for use in conjunction with commercial purposes) provided that full acknowledgement is given to the source. For the use of the WHO emblem, permission must be sought from the WHO Regional Office. Any translation should include the words: *The translator of this document is responsible for the accuracy of the translation.* The Regional Office would appreciate receiving three copies of any translation. Any views expressed by named authors are solely the responsibility of those authors.



# **CONTENTS**

		Page
Background		1
Summary of di	scussion: conclusions and recommendations	2
Conclusions		2
Recommendations		
Statements on	the right to healthy indoor air	3
Introduction		
Commentary		6
Principle 1.	The human right to health	6
	Respect for autonomy ("self-determination")	
	Non-maleficence ("do no harm")	
Principle 4.	Beneficence ("doing good")	8
	Social justice	
	Accountability	
Principle 7.	Precautionary principle	9
Principle 8.	"Polluter pays"	9
	Sustainability	
Bibliography		10
Annex 1 Par	ticipants	12

# **Background**

Indoor air quality (IAQ) is an important determinant of population health and wellbeing. People in modern societies spend most of their time in indoor spaces such as at home, work, school and in vehicles. Exposure to the hazardous airborne agents present in many indoor spaces causes adverse effects such as respiratory disease, allergy and irritation of the respiratory tract. Improperly or poorly ventilated combustion appliances pose a real risk of acute poisoning by carbon monoxide. Indoor exposure to radon and environmental tobacco smoke increases the risk of lung cancer. Many chemicals encountered indoors cause adverse sensory effects, giving rise to a sense of discomfort and other symptoms.

The control of indoor air quality is often inadequate in spite of its significant role in determining health. Tensions and conflicts often occur between individuals suffering from indoor air pollution and those whose actions negatively influence indoor air quality. Most exposure to indoor air occurs in private homes, where intervention by public regulation is often considered a violation of personal freedom. Furthermore, commercial interests have often delayed the implementation of indoor air pollution controls in spite of scientific evidence of the harmful impact of such pollution on health.

To a large extent, the inadequate quality of indoor air arises from a poor articulation, appreciation and understanding of the basic principles underlying the policies and actions related to indoor air quality. As a result, the general public is familiar neither with those principles nor with their associated rights.

A WHO Working Group was convened to agree on a set of statements on "The right to healthy indoor air", derived from fundamental principles in the fields of human rights, biomedical ethics and ecological sustainability. These statements inform the individuals and groups responsible for healthy indoor air about their rights and obligations, and empower the general public by making people familiar with those rights.

The statements were formulated at a meeting of the Working Group convened by the WHO European Centre for Environment and Health (WHO/ECEH), Bilthoven Division, in Bilthoven on 15–17 May 2000. The invited experts, who represented a wide range of specialties and countries, were recommended to WHO by contacts in governmental institutions and through expert groups involved in the assessment and maintenance of indoor air quality, bioethics and environmental ethics (list of participants in Annex 1). The Chairperson of the meeting was Dr Lars Mølhave and Dr Nadia Boschi acted as Rapporteur. Those invited received in advance of the meeting a background paper prepared by a small group convened by WHO/ECEH in November 1999.

The exact text of the principles recommended, and most of the text of the commentary was agreed at the meeting. A smaller editorial group worked on it directly after the meeting, and the entire text of this report was reviewed and accepted by all members of the Working Group within a few weeks following the meeting. The report summarizes the main conclusions and recommendations of the Working Group, and sets out the statements on The Right to Healthy Indoor Air.

# **Summary of discussion: conclusions and recommendations**

The discussion concentrated on the adaptation of the widely accepted principles of human rights to situations where indoor exposures might affect those rights. In addition, the discussion defined the applications and target audience of the principles formulated, and also recommended the framework for their implementation.

#### **Conclusions**

- 1. This document is intended as a global framework to provide directions, give guidance and/or set priorities at local levels. Further, the need for cooperation at international, national and local levels is emphasized.
- 2. The document is expected to have both short- and long-term outcomes. In the short term, in countries where indoor air policy and programmes are less developed, the document will provide guidance for the development of such policies and programmes. In the long term, European and worldwide recognition of the importance of the right to healthy indoor air will increase the use of the principles identified in this document.
- 3. The principles identified in the document mainly apply to the WHO European Region, although they have a bearing on indoor air issues in other regions.
- 4. Healthy indoor air is determined by a large number of factors and, as a result, no single profession or authority has full responsibility for healthy indoor air. This document is written for those that have control, e.g. policy-makers and regulators, and for the benefit of the general public.
- 5. Because the fields of health and the environment are often separately addressed, the management of indoor air quality requires cooperation and collaboration in solving indoor air problems. A multidisciplinary and intersectoral approach is required within a systematic framework.
- 6. The principles aim at stimulating the occupants of buildings or vehicles to seek healthy indoor air for themselves, to participate in the decision-making process about the control of exposure(s), and to behave responsibly as consumers.
- 7. Access to information, exchange of expertise between scientists, and availability of adequate educational programmes are key aspects for the adoption of the principles contained in this document.

#### Recommendations

- 1. The principles should be brought to the attention of national governments with a view to placing healthy indoor air on the agenda for future action.
- 2. Healthy indoor air should be considered an important aspect of the human environment. This document should therefore be taken into consideration in the formulation of future environmental statements.
- 3. WHO should work more closely with national authorities to adopt the measures required for the implementation of the principles, and follow up their implementation periodically.
- 4. The dissemination and promotion of the principles that establish individual rights to healthy indoor air as embodied in this document are recommended with the aim of:

- encouraging and promoting the use of an international framework and principles by governments and other relevant agencies for the development of national and local strategies;
- establishing educational and informational programmes (e.g. developing a Web site) to raise awareness and assist people to take reasonable measures to reduce the risks to their health from harmful exposures to indoor agents;
- promoting the exchange of information between those involved in the formulation of policy and those involved in science; and
- encouraging the education of air quality professionals, which is needed both at the level of continuing education and in professional training; such training should include other relevant specialties such as medicine, architecture and engineering.
- 5. The principles, written in lay terms with a commentary, should be considered as ethical guidelines framed in the context of human health and sustainability. It is therefore recommended that WHO, and its Regional Office for Europe in particular, promote the application of the principles to achieve an optimal environment. Such an environment should reconcile global as well as local ecological integrity with the prevention of harmful effects on human health in both the short and long term.
- 6. The appropriate authorities should organize or initiate preventive actions against documented health risks caused by indoor air exposure.
- 7. Wide support should be given to requirements to adopt measures to control sources of significant air pollutants.
- 8. Cooperation between those responsible for healthy indoor air and the energy, building and outdoor environment sectors should be encouraged to identify, analyse and propose solutions to existing and potential conflicts between the sectors.
- 9. Public health and energy policies should be coordinated. It is also important that private sector actions consider both indoor air quality and energy.

# Statements on the right to healthy indoor air

#### Introduction

Everyone has a right to healthy indoor air. It is the dual purpose of this document to:

- 1. inform those who have an influence on public health about this right and of their obligations related to this right, and
- 2. empower the general public by making people familiar with this right.

The right to healthy indoor air applies across the world. While it is an individual responsibility to prevent air pollution indoors, decision-makers both inside and outside the public health sector have important additional tasks in this respect. In particular, the building and energy sectors have pertinent roles to play. Many factors influence indoor air quality, including the design, construction, equipment, operation and maintenance of buildings or other indoor spaces, as well as outdoor air quality and the occupants' preferences or activities. All individual groups, whether private or public, associated with a building or other indoor space, bear responsibility for healthy indoor air and the protection of the health of its occupants.

The health and wellbeing of people in the developed and in the developing world suffer a negative impact from unhealthy indoor air. However, it must be recognized that in many countries, indoor air pollution from the use of solid household fuels (coal and biomass) is currently considerably more severe than typical levels in Europe. This indoor air pollution adds significantly to the global burden of disease and premature mortality. In these biomass-burning regions, there is a clear need for development and implementation of interventions to reduce exposure to pollution as part of primary health care programmes and through adequate social and economic policy. Even though the focus of this document is on issues of most relevance to the WHO European Region, its recommendations may also apply to indoor air issues in other regions.

Awareness of the health significance of good indoor air quality is low in many societies, mainly because sufficient information is not available to those affected. In modern societies, exposure to indoor air results in more contact with many environmental contaminants than exposure to food, water and outdoor air. However, the laws protecting people from harmful exposures indoors are less developed than regulations concerning ambient air, drinking-water or food quality. This potentially increases inequalities in health and aggravates health risks in the less informed, poorer parts of the society and among the most vulnerable groups, especially children.

International statements concerning the right to an environment that improves living conditions and increases wellbeing and health also apply to indoor environments. These statements and those contained in this report provide the basis for formulating a policy for healthy indoor air. It is important to emphasize that in developing programmes and practices regarding indoor air quality, other exposures to which individuals are subject (i.e. all types of exposure in a time and geographical framework) also need to be considered.

Human rights are the rights of individuals that should apply to all people around the world, representing fundamental freedoms or needs that every state ought to recognize and protect. Specific human rights law is listed in several key documents; foremost of these is the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which was drawn up to give more specific definition to the rights and freedoms referred to in the United Nations Charter. The Charter, the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights constitute what is often called the "International Bill of Human Rights". These human rights apply globally, irrespective of gender, age, religion, economic status, national origin, ethnicity and the like.

There are several links between health and human rights. The human rights mentioned in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights that are most relevant to indoor air quality and health are:

- Article 25: (1) Everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for the health and wellbeing of himself and of his family, including food, clothing, housing and medical care and necessary social services ...
- Article 29: (1) Everyone has duties to the community in which alone the free and full development of his personality is possible.

  (2) In the exercise of his rights and freedoms, everyone shall be subject only to
  - such limitations as are determined by law solely for the purpose of securing due recognition and respect for the rights and freedoms of others and of meeting the just requirements of morality, public order and the general welfare in a democratic society.

Energy use in buildings comprises about one third of all energy use. Another 10% of all energy consumption is for the production, maintenance, renovation and ultimate fate of buildings when

taken out of service. The inefficient or inappropriate use of energy in buildings has an important negative impact on the sustainability of global life-support systems. This negative impact may be reduced by the use of good building design and technology. Because the integrity of ecological life-support systems – including air, water, soil, oceans, fisheries, forests and climate – is integral to the survival of humanity, it is essential to exercise care for these systems for the benefit of both current and future generations. The achievement of a healthy indoor environment must thus reconcile the concern for global ecological integrity with the prevention of both long- and short-term effects on human health. The necessary respect and care for indoor environments is similar in practice to the respect and care for local, regional and global environments. "Think globally, act locally" applies here.

Dissemination of knowledge of the principles that determine individual rights to healthy indoor air will help people to understand what values are being given priority in any specific context, be it at the home, office or government level of decision-making and/or policy formulation. At the same time, encouraging individual behaviour towards sustainability will also help to ensure sustainable indoor air quality.

The principles below derive from the fundamental principles in the fields of human rights, biomedical ethics and ecological sustainability, and focus on interactions among them.

# **Principles**

- Principle 1 Under the principle of the human right to health, everyone has the right to breathe healthy indoor air.
- Principle 2 Under the principle of respect for autonomy ("self-determination"), everyone has the right to adequate information about potentially harmful exposures, and to be provided with effective means for controlling at least part of their indoor exposures.
- Principle 3 Under the principle of non-maleficence ("doing no harm"), no agent at a concentration that exposes any occupant to an unnecessary health risk should be introduced into indoor air.
- **Principle 4** Under the principle of beneficence ("doing good"), all individuals, groups and organizations associated with a building, whether private, public, or governmental, bear responsibility to advocate or work for acceptable air quality for the occupants.
- Principle 5 Under the principle of social justice, the socioeconomic status of occupants should have no bearing on their access to healthy indoor air, but health status may determine special needs for some groups.
- **Principle 6** Under the principle of accountability, all relevant organizations should establish explicit criteria for evaluating and assessing building air quality and its impact on the health of the population and on the environment.

- **Principle 7 Under the precautionary principle**, where there is a risk of harmful indoor air exposure, the presence of uncertainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent such exposure.
- **Principle 8 Under the "polluter pays" principle**, the polluter is accountable for any harm to health and/or welfare resulting from unhealthy indoor air exposure(s). In addition, the polluter is responsible for mitigation and remediation.
- **Principle 9 Under the principle of sustainability**, health and environmental concerns cannot be separated, and the provision of healthy indoor air should not compromise global or local ecological integrity, or the rights of future generations.

# Commentary

In this part of the document, the application of the above principles is placed into context and explained. The principles and the commentary are mutually supportive. It may happen that any of the principles could be in apparent conflict with others. It is the object of any rights- or ethics-based analysis to be transparent in the rationale as to how a decision to act was reached. In providing such a rationale, any principle could take precedence over any other. The articulation of the rationale for invoking any one principle over another establishes transparency.

# Principle 1. The human right to health

The severity of symptoms and the duration of any negative health effects are primary criteria for determining the seriousness and importance of various indoor air pollution health impacts. Shortened life expectancy, diminished quality of life, disability and hospitalization are key indicators. Symptoms of health effects resulting from indoor pollutant exposure can be classified by severity and duration. Short-term acute effects resulting from infectious agents are often affected by building practices. Examples include respiratory diseases such as legionnaires' disease and hypersensitivity pneumonitis. Asthma and allergy, or chronic upper respiratory obstructive diseases, may have less severe acute symptoms but are important because of their lengthy (often life-long) duration.

The quality of indoor air not only has a bearing on health, but also on the quality of life. This interpretation derives from the 1977 World Health Assembly, which resolved that by the year 2000, all people should attain a level of health permitting them to lead socially and economically productive lives. Exposure to pollutants that qualitatively decrease the health, functioning or comfort of occupants is, therefore, unacceptable.

Indoor air pollution from the use of solid fuels in simple unvented stoves is common in developing countries. As their economies develop, populations tend to use cleaner fuels and less polluting stoves. That this occurs, however, does not imply that waiting for economic development is a necessary or desirable approach to achieving better indoor air quality. Indeed, the great triumphs in public health are in identifying ways to help people improve their health even before they participate in the fruits of economic development.

## Principle 2. Respect for autonomy ("self-determination")

Everyone has the right to expect others to respect their individual judgement in their own evaluation of personal exposure and its effects. For example, if a person finds the air quality

uncomfortable or offensive enough to warrant a formal comment or complaint, that person's assessment needs to be respected.

Those responsible for public health and education have a duty to inform people regarding the relationship of indoor air quality to health. Article 26 of the United Nations Declaration on Human Rights states:

Article 26: (1) Everyone has the right to education...

(2) Education shall be directed to the full development of the human personality and the strengthening of respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms.

It follows from Article 26(1) that education programmes for the general population should underline the importance of indoor air quality for health and provide insight into the basic mechanisms and sources of pollutants.

It is essential that individuals have some level of personal control over their own indoor environment and air quality. The personal control is necessary because the evaluation of an "optimal indoor environment" differs from person to person. However, public health authorities should recommend minimum standards.

People have the right to adequate, understandable information about the environments that they inhabit. This includes balanced and objective information on the exposures and associated risks.

The right to self-determination requires that full information be available to people making decisions about actions affecting their indoor air exposure. Therefore, those with access to relevant information should make it available to others. The providers are accountable for the adequacy of the information they provide.

The population should be protected against factors which may change their sensitivity to indoor air exposures as well as against misinformation causing people to set wrong priorities.

All reasonable measures should be taken to inform the general public of national and international laws pertaining to indoor air quality, and their rights in relation to these laws.

## Principle 3. Non-maleficence ("do no harm")

Indoor air should contain no pollutants without a justifiable reason or purpose for their presence. It is recognized that a balance must be struck between indoor air requirements and considerations such as the economy and health. Unwanted or unacceptable exposures are defined as the presence of indoor exposures that cause undesirable effects on the occupant(s).

Those who design, provide, build, maintain and occupy indoor environments have a duty to do no harm to indoor air quality in that environment. Ignorance about indoor air quality matters is not an excuse for causing harm. The facts on indoor air quality must therefore be readily available to, and used by, all the parties concerned.

Exposures indoors should not occur as the result of mitigation of environmental problems in occupational or outdoor environments (e.g. by discharge, dilution or substitution that migrates to the indoor environment).

Environmental tobacco smoke is a special case of an indoor air pollutant with serious, large-scale negative health consequences. As such, environmental tobacco smoke should be excluded from indoor environments.

## Principle 4. Beneficence ("doing good")

Those who provide, maintain and occupy indoor environments have a responsibility to promote good indoor air quality.

Protection of the health and comfort of the most sensitive occupants is required under the principle of beneficence.

When convincing evidence exists on health risks due to indoor air exposures, the appropriate societal authorities should organize or initiate action to prevent or eliminate these exposures.

# Principle 5. Social justice

Social justice refers to the equitable distribution of burdens and benefits within society. Unhealthy indoor air is a burden, and healthy indoor air is a benefit. Therefore, there should be social and economic equity in the distribution of healthy indoor air.

Those involved in public health should recognize this unequal distribution of healthy air by virtue of social or demographic factors. Special attention may need to be paid to affected groups, as well as to others vulnerable by virtue of their health status, to reduce health inequalities and ensure progress toward more egalitarian societies.

Various groups experience different exposures to unhealthy indoor air, e.g. the economically disadvantaged (more exposure to environmental tobacco smoke, more poor quality combustion devices), women and the elderly (more time spent indoors), and ethnic minorities (lack of information in an appropriate language).

The right to quality indoor air is equally essential for people of all nations and at all socioeconomic levels. Economically disadvantaged individuals must be given due consideration whenever decisions affecting their indoor air quality are to be made by either public or private organizations.

All minorities (including susceptible groups such as children) have the same rights to protection as the general population. In particular, sensitive groups within the population have the right to adequate means for ensuring them an indoor air quality that meets their specific needs.

Solidarity with the less privileged urges rectification of the unequal distribution of resources and prevention of and a response to human suffering.

## **Principle 6. Accountability**

As a minimum, all applicable laws and regulations should be followed. In addition, all relevant standards of practice and guidelines should be followed. Transparency provides the basis for understanding the rationale for decision-making.

Those responsible for and concerned with human and environmental health, both in governments and in nongovernmental organizations, should develop and adopt indicators of healthy indoor air

and its achievement for the whole population. These indicators should include exposure and risk assessment related to indoor pollutants with significance for health. They should also include factors that have an impact on indoor air quality as well as determinants of general environmental quality that directly and indirectly affect and are affected by the quality of the built environment.

It is sometimes argued that *household* air pollution should not be the concern of government public health bodies. After all, it is said, the occupants themselves are responsible for most of the activities that produce the indoor air pollution they experience. Indoor air pollution, by this reasoning, is not an "externality" and thus does not need to be addressed by society at large. However, there are several problems with this argument.

- Governments and other outside agencies clearly do have a role in research and education to inform householders of the risks. Householders alone are not in a position to conduct or interpret such research.
- Through appliance standards, building codes, fuel standards and pricing, consumer product standards and labelling and other measures, governments already exercise a number of controls over indoor air quality and have the responsibility to see that such controls reflect actual risks.
- Households are not democracies with every person having an equal say. Children, in particular, are not in a position to make the kind of judgment needed to protect themselves. In many societies, women have little say in many household economic decisions, such as the purchase of fuel, even though they may experience most of the indoor air pollution exposure.
- Children are a vulnerable group. Therefore, particularly stringent controls should be applied to afford their protection from involuntary exposure to indoor air pollutants. This includes exposure in home, hospitals, kindergartens and schools.
- Lastly, distinguishing hazards as being externalities or not may fit some economic decision-making models but is not congruent with public health practice. From a public health standpoint, the task is to reduce human exposures to harmful substances no matter what their origin or where they occur.

# Principle 7. Precautionary principle

Prevention is better than restitution, mitigation and restoration, not only for reasons related to health, but also because prevention is cost-effective. Prevention is better than cure.

## Principle 8. "Polluter pays"

Regardless of the primary responsibility, no party is exempt from the responsibility to act for the achievement of healthy indoor air. Polluters cannot avoid their responsibility to compensate the affected parties.

Economic, operational or administrative arguments are insufficient justification for not acting against the pollution of indoor air.

## Principle 9. Sustainability

The provision of healthy indoor air is a fundamental aspect of the design, construction, operation, maintenance, replacement/demolition or conservation of sustainable buildings. However, in providing healthy indoor air, the minimization of environmental impacts is also essential for sustainability.

Considerations of sustainable development, sustainable living and sustainable health are all relevant to the promotion of healthy indoor air.

The policies of public health and energy programmes should be coordinated. It is also important that private sector actions consider both indoor air quality and energy.

Luxury services that improve the short-term quality of life should not take precedence over longer-term global or local ecological considerations. Global ecological integrity is dependent not only on consumption and the population, but also on technology. The inappropriate uses of technology in conjunction with over-consumption have a negative impact on the sustainability of life-support systems. The latter are based in the services provided to humanity from the natural world. Over-exploitation and pollution are destroying these natural systems. In other words, humans are threatening global ecological integrity by over-consumption, the growth in populations and the inappropriate uses of technology.

A dilemma emerges when considerations of human comfort, not essential to human health and wellbeing, place in jeopardy the ability of life-support systems to be self-sustaining because of over-exploitation and pollution. Thus, where human health needs conflict with the health needs of other species, human health needs should prevail; but where human comfort jeopardizes the sustainability of life-support systems, the protection of the life-support systems should prevail.

# **Bibliography**

*Basic documents*, 42nd edition. Geneva, World Health Organization, 1999, p.1 ("Health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity").

BEAUCHAMP, T.L. & CHILDRESS, J.F. *Principles of biomedical ethics*. Oxford University Press, New York, 1989 (originally published 1979).

BOSCHI, N., ED. *Education and training in indoor air sciences*. Dordrecht, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1999, pp. 27–43.

Communication from the Commission on the precautionary principle. Brussels, Commission of the European Communities, 2000 (COM(2000) 1) (http://europa.eu.int/comm/off/com/health\_consumer/precaution\_en.pdf, accessed 26 July 2000).

Health and human rights; a call to action on the 50<sup>th</sup> anniversary of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights [Commentary]. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, **280**(5): 462–470 (1998).

MANN, J.M. Medicine and public health, ethics and human rights. *Hastings Center report*, **27**(3): 6–13 (1997).

MANN, J.M. ET AL., ED. Health and human rights: a reader. New York and London, Routledge, 1999.

MARONI, M. ET AL. *Indoor air quality – a comprehensive reference book*. Amsterdam, Elsevier Science, 1995 (Air Quality Monographs, Vol. 3. ISBN 0-444-81642-9).

PIMENTEL, D. ET AL., ED. *Ecological integrity: integrating environment, conservation, and health.* Covelo, CA, Island Press (in press).

RAWLS, J.A. A theory of justice. Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1999.

Report of the United Nations Conference on Environment and Development, Rio de Janeiro, 3–14 June 1992. New York, United Nations, 1993 [Annex I. Rio Declaration on Environment and Development: Precautionary Principle – Principle 15].

RODRIGUEZ-GARCIA, R. & AKHTER, M.N. Human rights: the foundation of public health practice. *American journal of public health*, **90**(5): 693–694 (2000).

SMITH, K.R. Indoor air pollution in developing countries: growing evidence of its role in the global disease burden. *In:* Yoshizava, S. et al., ed. *Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> international conference on indoor air quality and climate – Indoor Air'96.* Tokyo, Institute of Public Health, 1996, Vol. 3, pp. 33–44.

SOSKOLNE, C.L. & BERTOLLINI, R., ED. Ethical and philosophical issues in environmental epidemiology. *The science of the total environment*, **184**(1,2): 1–4 (1996).

Strategic approaches to indoor air policy-making. Copenhagen, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 1999 (EUR/ICP/EHBI 04 02 02).

Universal Declaration of Human Rights. New York, United Nations, 1948 (Resolution 217A (III)).

UN InterAction Council. *Declaration on the right and responsibilities of individuals, groups, and organs of society to promote and protect universally recognized human rights and freedom.* New York, United Nations, 1997 pp. 546–550 (Draft resolution; Appendix II/Universal Declaration of Human Responsibilities).

#### Annex 1

## **PARTICIPANTS**

#### Professor Kjell Aas

Voksentoppen University Clinic, Kragstubben 30, N-0783 Oslo, Norway

#### Dr Jan Vilhelm Bakke

Arbeidstilsynet, 3 Distrikt Avdelingskontoret Gjøvik, Teknologiveien 22, N-2815 Gjøvik, Norway

#### Professor Dr Vladimir Bencko

Institute of Hygiene and Epidemiology, First Faculty of Medicine, Charles University of Prague, Studnickova 7, CZ-128 00 Prague 2, Czech Republic

## Dr Nadia Boschi (Rapporteur) 1

Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, College of Architecture and Urban Studies, 7054 Haycock Road, Falls Church, VA 22043, USA

## Professor Mariya Chuchkova

Urban and Environmental Health Section, National Centre of Hygiene, Medical Ecology and Nutrition, 15 Dimiter Nestorov str., 1431 Sofia, Bulgaria

#### Dr Christian Cochet

Health & Buildings Division, Centre Scientifique et Technique du Bâtiment, 84 Avenue Jean Jaures, F-77421 Marne la Vallée Cedex 2, France

#### Dr Ildiko Farkas

Jozsef Fodor National Centre of Public Health, National Institute of Environmental Health, Gyali ut 2–6, 1097 Budapest, Hungary

## Dr Ana Garriga-Trillo

Universidad Nacional de Educación a Distancia, Rosalía de Castro 84, 6C, E-28035 Madrid, Spain

#### Professor Sophia Kakari

Hellenic Anticancer Institute, Saint Savas Hospital Athens, 10 Mystra Street, Voula 16673 Athens, Greece

#### Professor Dr Pentti Kalliokoski

Environmental Sciences, University of Kuopio, P.O. Box 1627, SF-70211 Kuopio, Finland

#### Dr Anthony Kessel

Epidemiology Unit, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, Keppel Street, London WC1E 7HT, United Kingdom

#### Dr Hal Levin<sup>1,2</sup>

Building Ecology Research Group, 2548 Empire Grade, Santa Cruz, CA 95060, USA

## Professor Thomas Lindvall<sup>2</sup>

Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institute, P.O. Box 210, S-17 177 Stockholm, Sweden

#### Dr James McLaughlin

Department of Experimental Physics, University College Dublin, Belfield, Dublin 4, Ireland

#### Dr Ildikó Mócsy

Institute of Public Health Cluj, Str. Pasteur 6, 3400 Cluj-Napoca, Romania

## Dr Lars Mølhave (Chairperson)<sup>1,2</sup>

Department of Environmental and Occupational Medicine, University of Aarhus, Building 260, Vennelyst Boulevard 6, DK-8000 Aarhus-C, Denmark

#### Professor Dr Giacomo Muzi

Institute of Occupational Medicine and Occupational and Environmental Toxicology, University of Perugia, Via E. Dal Pozzo, 06100 Perugia, Italy

#### **Professor Anthony Pickering**

Northwest Lung Centre, Department of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Wythenshawe Hospital, Southmoor Road, Manchester M23 9 LT, United Kingdom

## Professor Bernd Seifert<sup>2</sup>

Department of Environmental Hygiene, Federal Environmental Agency, Corrensplatz 1, D-14195 Berlin, Germany

#### Dr Katarína Slotová

State Health Institute, Cesta k Nemocnici 1, 975 56 Banská Bystrica, Slovakia

#### Dr Colin Soskolne<sup>1,2</sup>

Department of Public Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, 13–103 Clinical Sciences Building, University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G3, Canada

#### Dr Mariachiara Tallacchini

Dipartimento di Teoria e Storia del Airitto, Università degli Studi di Firenze, Via Cassanese 41, 20090 Segrate (Milano), Italy

#### **WHO Regional Office for Europe**

## Dr Michal Krzyzanowski<sup>1,2</sup>

WHO European Centre for Environment and Health, Bilthoven Division, P.O. Box 10, 3730 AA De Bilt, Netherlands

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Member of the Editorial Group

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Member of the Preparatory Group

EUR/00/5020494 ENGLISH ONLY UNEDITED

## The Rights to Healthy Indoor Air

- P1 Under the principle of the human right to health, everyone has the right to breathe healthy indoor air.
- P2 Under the principle of respect for autonomy ("self-determination"), everyone has the right to adequate information about potentially harmful exposures, and to be provided with effective means for controlling at least part of their indoor exposures.
- P3 Under the principle of non-maleficence ("doing no harm"), no agent at a concentration that exposes any occupant to an unnecessary health risk should be introduced into indoor air.
- P4 Under the principle of beneficence ("doing good"), all individuals, groups and organizations associated with a building, whether private, public or governmental, bear responsibility to advocate or work for acceptable air quality for the occupants.
- P5 Under the principle of social justice, the socioeconomic status of occupants should have no bearing on their access to healthy indoor air, but health status may determine special needs for some groups.
- P6 Under the principle of accountability, all relevant organizations should establish explicit criteria for evaluating and assessing building air quality and its impacts on the health of the population and on the environment.
- P7 Under the precautionary principle, where there is a risk of harmful indoor air exposure, the presence of uncertainty shall not be used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures to prevent such exposure.
- P8 Under the "polluter pays" principle, the polluter is accountable for any harm to health and/or welfare resulting from unhealthy indoor air exposure(s). In addition, the polluter is responsible for miligation and remediation.
- P9 Under the principle of sustainability, health and environmental concerns cannot be separated, and the provision of healthy indoor air should not compromise global or local ecological integrity, or the rights of future generations.

World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe

Scherfigsvej 8 DK-2100 Copenhagen Ø Denmark Telephone +45 39 17 17 17 Telefax: +45 39 17 18 18 Telex: 12000 who dk

Electronic mail: postmaster@who.dk World Wide Web Address: http://www.who.dk



The WHO Regional Office for Europe

The World Head? Organization DWHCLs a specialisted agency of the United Nations constrol in 1548 with palmary teaperability for infaminismal header mattern and public heads. The WHO Respond Uffices for Europe is one of an regional effices droughout the world, each with diumn programme peared in the pasticular heads one programme peared in the pasticular heads constituted to the constituted to series.

#### Member States

Albama
Archora
Belara
Belara
Belara
Belara
Belara
Belara
Belara
Belara
Conch Republic
Densek
Friteria
Frita
Friteria
Frit